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T. STANLEY, Administrative Law Judge: On August 2, 2018, we issued an opinion
reversing Franchise Tax Board’s (FTB) action proposing an assessment of $60,209 of additional
tax, for the 2007 tax year, resulting from the dissolution of a partnership, Con-Med, in which
appellant held a 10 percent interest. Appellant Sharon Mitchell argued on appeal that tax on her
gain should be deferred because the sale of the sole asset of the partnership, a parcel of
commercial real estate (the property), had been structured by the partnership to allow appellant,
and other partners choosing to do so, to convert their partnership interests to tenant-in-common
(TIC) interests and then exchange those interests for like-kind property under Internal Revenue
Code (IRC) section 1031. FTB argued on appeal that appellant had not completed a valid 1031
exchange, primarily because she was not the seller — the partnership was — and even if she had
been a seller, the transaction violated the rules against anticipatory assignment of income. The
majority agreed with the appellant with Judge A. Rosas dissenting. Pursuant to Revenue and
Taxation Code (R&TC) section 19048, FTB petitioned for a rehearing.
Office of Tax Appeals (OTA) may grant a rehearing where one of the following grounds
is met and materially affects the substantial rights of the party seeking a rehearing: (1) an

irregularity in the proceedings that prevented the fair consideration of the appeal; (2) an accident



or surprise that occurred, which ordinary caution could not have prevented; (3) newly
discovered, relevant evidence, which the filing party could not have reasonably discovered and
provided prior to issuance of the written opinion; (4) insufficient evidence to justify the written
opinion or the opinion is contrary to law; or (5) an error in law that occurred during the
proceedings. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § (Regulation or Reg.) 30604; Appeal of Do, 2018-OTA-
002P; Appeal of Wilson Development, Inc. (94-SBE-007) 1994 WL 580654.) We conclude that
the grounds relied upon in the petition do not constitute good cause for a new hearing.
Specifically, FTB alleges its rights were materially affected by the following:

e The lead judge prematurely terminated FTB's closing argument, which was an
irregularity in the proceeding that prevented FTB from having a fair hearing;

e There is insufficient evidence to justify the opinion' or the opinion is contrary to law in
that it contains factual findings and statements that are supported exclusively by
inadmissible hearsay evidence or that are contrary to California law;

e There is insufficient evidence to justify the opinion or the opinion is contrary to law in
that the most reliable and probative evidence proves the seller of the property was the
partnership;

e The opinion contains an error in law as it does not apply the U.S. Supreme Court's
analysis in Commissioner of Internal Revenue v. Court Holding Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 331
(Court Holding) to establish who is the seller for tax purposes, an analysis which was
followed by the Board of Equalization (BOE) in its precedential decision in Appeal of
Brookfield Manor, Inc. et al. (89-SBE-002) 1989 WL 37900; and,

e The opinion contains an error in law as it erroneously rejected FTB’s anticipatory
assignment of income argument.

We address each of these contentions below.

1. Irregularity in the Proceedings

An irregularity in the proceedings is defined as “any departure . . . from the due and
orderly method of disposition of any action by which the substantial rights of a party have been

materially affected.” (Appeal of Graham and Smith, 2018-OTA-154P.) The granting or denial

! This and later references to the “opinion” are to the majority opinion.
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of a new hearing on such basis is largely in the discretion of the presiding officer.

(Loggie v. Interstate Transit Co. (1930) 108 Cal.App. 165, 171.) Courts have defined an
irregularity in the proceedings as “an overt act [. . .] violative of the right to a fair and impartial
trial, amounting to misconduct.” (Gray v. Robinson (1939) 33 Cal.App.2d 177, 182.) Courts
have also required, in addition to identifying such an irregularity, that the petitioning party show
they were ignorant of the facts constituting the irregularity prior to the decision, “since it is
settled that a party may not remain quiet, taking his chances upon a favorable verdict, and, after a
verdict against him, raise a point of which he knew and could have raised during the progress of
the [proceedings].” (/d. at p. 183.)

FTB contends that the panel prematurely terminated FTB’s closing argument and
therefore prevented it from having a fair consideration of its case. Following approximately one
hour of FTB’s closing argument, the lead judge interrupted and stated, “Can I just point out that
you guys have been closing for almost an hour? And so, I'd appreciate if you could make final
points and try to wrap this up.” FTB contends that it had not been making its closing argument
for an hour; rather, it spent most of that time addressing questions previously posed by the panel.
It asserts that its rights were materially affected because it was not allowed to finish its prepared
remarks. Specifically, FTB contends that it was foreclosed from addressing Con-Med’s tax
documents (K-1s).

The panel’s imposition of reasonable time constraints on the parties’ closing arguments
was consistent with an orderly hearing process. FTB was free to present its closing argument in
the manner it wished. The only evidence mentioned in the petition for rehearing (PFR) is the
partnership’s Forms K-1, which “did not increase the non-redeeming partners' interests at the end
of its 2007 taxable year, demonstrating that Con-Med did not, for tax purposes, respect the
redemption of appellant and her mother.” The record reflects that FTB chose two attorneys to
present its closing argument, each addressing different topics, as well as to address panel
questions, for approximately one hour, uninterrupted. FTB’s argument covers approximately 36
pages of transcript. By comparison, appellant’s opening and rebuttal arguments cover
approximately 18 pages of transcript.? Furthermore, FTB’s substantive rights were not

materially affected by its failure to explain the significance of certain documents. The parties

2 Appellant had the primary burden of proof. Typically, OTA allows the party with the burden of proof
additional time to present a rebuttal to the agency’s argument.
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fully briefed the issues, and the documents were admitted into the record. We find nothing in the
record that can be reasonably construed as notice to the panel that there was an important issue
that required additional argument. OTA judges have the inherent authority to take any action
deemed necessary for the orderly and fair adjudication of disputes within OTA’s jurisdiction.?
We thus find that the lead judge’s actions were entirely within that authority and were not

irregularities that warrant a rehearing.

2. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Justify the Decision

A rehearing should not be granted on the grounds of insufficiency of the evidence unless,
after weighing the evidence, we are convinced from the entire record, including reasonable
inferences therefrom, that we should have reached different conclusions. (Cal. Code Civ. Proc.,
§ 657.)* In addition, insufficiency of the evidence as a ground for a rehearing means the level of
insufficiency that causes a trier of fact, when weighing conflicting evidence, to thereafter
conclude that facts in support of the decision weigh less than those which are in opposition.
(Bray v. Rosen (1959) 167 Cal.App.2d 680, 683.)

FTB contends that the opinion relies on factual findings and statements that are supported
exclusively by inadmissible hearsay evidence, and therefore FTB’s rights were materially
affected because there is insufficient evidence to justify the majority opinion. Those key
findings and statements in the opinion include the following:

e Con-Med’s representative negotiated the sale or exchange of the property on behalf of its

17 partners,

e the plan by some partners to do 1031 exchanges was known to all from the beginning,
o everyone knew that the transfer of the property may involve procedures and documents to

allow the exchanges to occur,’

3 This authority is now codified. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 30213(j).)

41n Appeal of Wilson Development, Inc., supra, the BOE largely adopted the grounds for granting a
rehearing, including the ground of an insufficiency of evidence to justify the decision, from Code of Civil Procedure
section 657, which sets forth the grounds for a new trial in a California trial court.

S FTB also mentions our finding that, as early as 1990, Caroline Mitchell and PTLA were discussing a 1031
exchange as a choice for the Con-Med partners. Exhibit 34 is the only evidence that tends to prove that Caroline
Mitchell and PTLA were discussing a 1031 exchange as a choice for the Con-Med partners as early as 1990, and in
that regard, FTB’s position is well taken. However, the fact is not required to support the ultimate disposition.
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e only Con-Med’s name appears on counteroffers, which reflects the state of the title to the
property at the time.

e Con-Med recognized by 2005 that it would probably have to sell the property and that
Con-Med would need a plan to accommodate partners who wanted to continue their
investment in like-kind property, as well as those who wanted to cash out their
investment.®

e Milner advised other Con-Med partners that there had been inquiries from at least one
partner regarding the procedure for structuring any sale to facilitate a valid
1031 exchange.’

e A number of the partners wanted to have their share of the sale proceeds deposited into
an “exchange account; and attorney Goodman had previously indicated that “exchanging
some partners into a new partnership while ‘cashing out’ others would be difficult.”®

e Milner accepted the last counteroffer, and explained there were several contingencies,
including approval by the Con-Med partners by March 21, 2007; the escrow close date
could be extended to facilitate a 1031 exchange; and that, if Con-Med’s accountants
approved, Milner would adopt a second amendment to the partnership agreement that
would require dissolution of the partnership and distribution to the partners of undivided
interests in the Property before the close of escrow.’

As an administrative agency, “OTA conducts hearings and proceedings in accordance
with the Administrative Procedure Act using hearing procedures that are accessible to all
representatives, including non-lawyers and taxpayers who are representing themselves.” (Cal.
Code Regs., tit. 18, § 30216(c).)!® OTA may admit any relevant evidence, including hearsay
evidence, provided that “it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed
to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or

statutory rule which might make improper the admission of the evidence over objection in civil

6 Findings of Fact number 5.
7 Findings of Fact number 6.
8 Findings of Fact number 7.
° Findings of Fact number 12.

10 Contained in Regulation section 30708 of the emergency regulations in effect at the time of the hearing.
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actions.” (Cal. Gov. Code, § 11513(c).)!' A sworn affidavit may be introduced in evidence in an
administrative proceeding, “but shall be given only the same effect as other hearsay evidence.”
(Cal. Gov. Code, § 11514.) “Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing or
explaining other evidence but over timely objection shall not be sufficient in itself to support a
finding.” (Cal. Gov. Code, § 11513(d); Steen v. Bd. of Civil Service Commissioners (1945) 26
Cal.2d 716, 727.)

In this hearing, the lead judge admitted some evidence, notably appellant’s exhibits 34
(identified as “Beler letter”) and 46 (the “Milner declaration”) over FTB’s timely objection but
subject to the limitation that the evidence would not be considered sufficient alone to support a
finding of fact.!? All of the other evidence that the panel relied upon was admitted without
objection or limitation.

Milner’s 2005 email to the Con-Med partners (exhibit 3) shows that one or more partners
had asked him questions about a possible 1031 exchange. There was no objection to the
admission of this evidence. The email contains a recommendation to the partners to talk to their
tax advisors if they were interested in doing a like-kind exchange, and it states that he will “make
sure that our lawyer (attorney Goodman) has set up the mechanism correctly for any partners
who wish to do a 1031 exchange of property.” This is a clear statement by the managing partner
to represent the interests of the partners who wanted to do a like-kind exchange, and the
statement occurred before he (and possibly others) negotiated the sales agreement.

Milner’s July 27, 2005 email to attorney Goodman (exhibit 38) mentions that some
partners were interested in completing like-kind exchanges and states that Milner was not sure if
this needed to be mentioned in the offer. FTB did not object to the admission of this evidence.
The email goes on to request more information about how difficult it would be to structure the
sales to allow some partners to exchange and others to cash out. This evidence shows that
Milner intended to negotiate the exchange option for appellant and her mother, if feasible.

Milner’s January 5, 2007 email to the partners (exhibit 44) attaches the initial offer and
refers to a prior telephone conference during which the partners discussed the pros and cons of

PTLA’s opening offer to buy the property for $6 million. There was no objection to the

11 Under the emergency regulations in existence at the time of the hearing, OTA was subject to California
Government Code section 11513. Effective January 1, 2019, that section no longer applies to proceedings before
OTA. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 30216(d).)

12 In this instance, a timely objection is one raised before submission of the case.
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admission of this evidence. The first and fifth bullet items listed in the email as being among the

items discussed are the following, in order:

Since some partners wish to do an exchange for tax purposes, we would
have to break up the partnership into tenants-in-common to do so. If we
did this, could 1 partner "foul the deal" by changing their minds during
escrow? (Unlikely but a risk.)

I talked with our lawyer afterwards who said we would merely put the
"Dissolution of partnership" contingent upon close of escrow. Those
partners who wish to do an exchange (currently 3 that I know of) would
pick up/split the ~ $2,000 legal fees.

* ek

Capital gains taxes are expected to rise over the next couple of years. This
was mentioned as a reason for taking the current offer rather than waiting.

This shows that all the partners, including appellant and her mother, were discussing that
some wanted to do an exchange and others were concerned that those few might be able to
prevent the sale and keep the others from cashing out. The email goes on to note that, with about
80 percent voting in favor of the offer during the telephone conference, Milner instructed
attorney Goodman to “update the offer.” The majority views this as further evidence that Milner
was representing the interests of all the partners in the negotiations. The fact that the partnership
was dissolving is further evidence that the diverse plans of the individual partners were likely his
main concern.

Milner’s March 7, 2007 correspondence (exhibit 36) informed the Con-Med partners that
Milner signed the final counter offer. There was no objection to the admission of this evidence,
which states, in part, that close of escrow was set for August 31, 2007, but might be extended up
to an additional 60 days if either party needed additional time to complete a tax deferred
exchange under IRC section 1031. The correspondence also discusses a possible amendment to
the partnership agreement to facilitate the exchanges. The majority viewed that as further
evidence of Milner’s successful efforts to negotiate an exchange option for at least two of the
Con-Med partners, despite the fact that close of escrow could be delayed to allow sufficient time
to accommodate those partners, and the absence of a clear plan regarding how the exchanges
were to be executed.

The evidence discussed above is sufficient to support our finding that Con-Med’s

representative negotiated the sale or exchange of the property on behalf the partnership and its
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17 partners so that the partners could determine whether they wished to become tenants in
common and exchange their interests rather than cashing out after the partnership terminated.
The finding is also supported by the agreement, which refers to the exchange option, and the
Milner declaration, which specifically states, among other things, that the transaction was
arranged on behalf of the partnership and Sharon and Caroline Mitchell. Furthermore, we find
unpersuasive FTB’s argument that the parties to the agreement understood that the exchange
option could be exercised by the partnership, not by the partners. We found it more likely that
PTLA was aware from at least near the beginning of negotiations that some Con-Med partners
planned to exchange their partnership shares for TIC shares and then exchange those shares for
like-kind property, and that PTLA and Milner included that option for those partners. Finally,
the opinion recognizes the distinction between appellant’s ownership of her 10 percent
partnership interest, which was not a direct interest in the property, and appellant’s 10 percent
TIC interest, which was a direct interest in the property, and we did not find otherwise, though
the reference to appellant continuously holding an “interest” in the property could have been
stated more clearly.

We find there is sufficient evidence in the record to support findings that: Milner
negotiated the sale on behalf of the partners, including appellant; Milner specifically negotiated
the exchange option for appellant and her mother (and any other partners who could have chosen
the option); and, while the specific details of how the exchange options would be exercised was
not clear at the outset, the Con-Med partners and PTLA were aware no later than early in the
negotiations that some Con-Med partners planned to exchange their partnership shares for TIC
shares and then exchange those shares for like-kind property, which might require the
redemption of the partnership shares for equivalent TIC shares. Thus, there is substantial support

in the record to justify the opinion.

3. Contrary to Law

The question of whether the decision is contrary to law (or against law) is not one which
involves a weighing of the evidence, but instead requires a finding that the decision is
“unsupported by any substantial evidence.” (Sanchez-Corea v. Bank of Am. (1985) 38 Cal. 3d
892, 906.) This requires a review of the decision to “indulg[e] in all legitimate and reasonable
inferences” to uphold the decision. (/d. at p. 907.) The question with respect to the petition for

rehearing is not over the quality or nature of the reasoning behind the decision, but whether the
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decision can or cannot be valid according to the law. (Appeal of NASSCO Holdings, Inc. (2010-
SBE-001) 2010 WL 5626976.)

FTB contends that the opinion is contrary to law because the majority opinion failed to
apply the judicial doctrine of substance-over-form when analyzing the exchange requirement of
IRC section 1031. In essence, FTB argues that its action should have been sustained as a matter
of law. Specifically, FTB claims that the opinion erred by not applying the substance-over-form
doctrine.™ It claims the opinion was instead reasoned on the application of the “step-transaction
doctrine.” In addition, FTB asserts that the panel erred in discussing and determining whether
appellant had met the “holding” requirement of a 1031 exchange. (See IRC, § 1031(a)(1) [gain
or loss is deferred on the exchange of real property if it is held for productive use in a trade or
business or for investment].) However, because FTB did not stipulate that appellant had met any
requirement necessary to effectuate a valid 1031 exchange, all requirements had to be addressed
in the opinion, including the holding requirement, thus there was no error in that respect.

There may have been some conflation in the opinion of the substance-over-form and the
step-transaction analyses. FTB, which argued both theories, describing them as “two guiding
principles” followed by our predecessor, the BOE, also may have comingled the two. (See, e.g.,
FTB’s Opening Brief, p. 4, Il. 2-25.) It is not surprising given their common purpose: to honor
substance over form, viewing a transaction as a whole. In fact, the step-transaction doctrine is a
subset, or corollary, of the substance-over-form doctrine which defines the incidence of taxation,
depending on the substance rather than the form of a transaction. (Security Industrial Ins. Co. v.
United States (5th Cir. 1983) 702 F.2d 1234, 1444.) Collapsing steps in a transaction is one of
the mechanisms courts have used to determine the substance of a transaction for tax purposes.
(See Commissioner v. Court Holding Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 331 (Court Holding); True v. United
States (10th Cir. 1999) 190 F.3d 1165, 1176 n.11; Tandy Corp. v. Commissioner (1989) 92 T.C.
1165, 1171.)

FTB’s argument in its petition for rehearing focuses primarily on its view that the opinion
did not apply the substance-over-form doctrine set forth in Court Holding. However, we did not
ignore Court Holding or its progeny. Instead, we distinguished them on the basis that the facts
of this transaction are materially different. In this appeal, we weighed the evidence and found

that appellant met all requirements for a valid 1031 exchange and that there was no effort to

3 FTB refers to a “seller-in-substance doctrine,” but that appears to be a doctrine of its own creation.
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disguise the transaction or its various components by “mere formalisms.” (See Court Holding,
supra, 324 U.S. 331, at p. 334.) Moreover, FTB has offered no other way that appellant could
have structured the transaction in a manner other than the way appellant chose. (See Magneson
v. Commissioner (1985) 753 F.2d 1490.) Accordingly, we did not err by discussing and rejecting
use of the step-transaction doctrine to determine whether the substance was reflected in the form
chosen.

FTB has not persuaded us that we incorrectly applied the law, by making the same
arguments now that it made prior to issuance of the opinion. We made findings based on the
weight of the evidence and rejected FTB’s arguments to the contrary. We specifically found that
appellant sold 10 percent of the property to the buyers. We found that the parties to the
transaction, including appellant, did what they thought was required to accomplish their diverse
objectives; appellant’s objective being the continued investment in real property. We found
then, as we still find, that appellant followed the plan laid out by the Con-Med managing partner
and the lawyer to navigate the still largely uncharted and obviously treacherous path from
owning real property through a partnership interest to direct ownership of a property that
successfully results in a valid 1031 exchange. The evidence does not establish that appellant, or
anyone else, attempted to disguise these related transactions by mere formalisms.

Since before 1984, when section 1031 was amended to specifically prohibit the exchange
of partnership interests, there has been no clear path to guide partners who wish to continue their
investment in like-kind property. The situation is further complicated when fewer than all
partners want to remain invested in like-kind property. As we stated in the opinion, appellant did
not engage in an improper tax avoidance scheme. The exchange was not a sham. The parties
engaged in a series of reasonable, necessary, and integrated transactions to accomplish a 1031
exchange. There was no last-minute decision to change the parties to the sale.

We find that the opinion is not contrary to law nor was there an error in law that occurred
during the proceedings, and that FTB’s substantial rights were not materially affected.

FTB, lastly, asserted that we erred by rejecting FTB’s anticipatory assignment of income
argument. We held that appellant’s interest in a pass-through entity had the same economic

consequences as holding a TIC with the partnership. The transfer did not shift income from one
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individual to others as was done in FTB’s cited case, Salvatore v. Commissioner (1970) T.C. 7
Memo 1970-30. The distinction is not contrary to law.

We conclude FTB has not shown good cause for a new hearing and deny its petition.

DocuSigned by:

0CCECEACCECEA44D,.
eresa A. Stanley

Administrative Law Judge

I concur:

DocuSigned by:

Michael E.Acéféary

Administrative Law Judge
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A. ROSAS, Concurring and Dissenting, in part:

At the outset, let me say that I concur with the first section from the majority’s Opinion
on Petition for Rehearing (Opinion on PFR), but I respectfully disagree with the conclusions

reached in the second and third sections of the Opinion on PFR.

1. Irregularity in the Proceedings

The April 24, 2018 oral hearing did not constitute “an irregularity in the proceedings by
which the party was prevented from having a fair consideration of its appeal.” (Cal. Code Regs.,
tit. 18, § 30604(a); Appeal of Wilson Development, Inc. (94-SBE-007) 1994 WL 580654; Appeal
of Do, 2018-OTA-002P.) Respondent Franchise Tax Board argues that there was an irregularity
in the proceedings because the panel “prematurely terminated” respondent’s closing argument
and that this purportedly prevented respondent from having a fair consideration of its case.
Respondent’s argument lacks merit, and it does not warrant any further discussion beyond the
discussion that the Opinion on PFR has already devoted to it.

However, 1 conclude that respondent has shown good cause for a new hearing under two
separate grounds: first of all, there is insufficient evidence to justify the majority’s
August 2, 2018 Opinion (Opinion); and secondly, that Opinion is contrary to law. (Cal. Code
Regs., tit. 18, § 30604(d); Appeal of Wilson Development, Inc., supra; Appeal of Do, supra.)

2. Sufficiency of the Evidence to Justify the Decision

There is insufficient evidence to justify the August 2, 2018 Opinion. As applicable to
administrative bodies, a rehearing should not be granted on the grounds of insufficiency of the
evidence unless, after weighing the evidence, one is convinced from the entire record, including
reasonable inferences therefrom, that the panel clearly should have reached a different decision.
(Cal. Code Civ. Proc., § 657.) Here, in analyzing whether there is insufficient evidence to justify
the majority Opinion, one must review whether there is insufficient evidence to support the
majority Opinion’s determination that appellant Sharon Mitchell satisfied both the exchange
requirement and the holding requirement.’

1 agree with respondent’s contentions that the majority based its factual findings and

statements exclusively on inadmissible hearsay evidence, and, therefore, this materially affected

! The “like-kind” requirement, under IRC section 1031, is not at issue.
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respondent’s rights because there is insufficient evidence to justify the majority Opinion.
Granted, during the April 24, 2018 oral hearing, the Office of Tax Appeals (OTA) was subject to
the Emergency Regulations on Rules for Tax Appeals and, under these emergency regulations,
OTA was able to admit any relevant evidence, including hearsay evidence, provided that “it is
the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of
serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might
make improper the admission of the evidence over objection in civil actions.” (Cal. Gov. Code,
§ 11513(c).)?

However, notwithstanding Government Code section 11513(c)’s broad rule of evidence
admissibility, the California “residuum rule” requires that an administrative law judge’s findings
be supported by at least some evidence other than hearsay. (See The Utility Reform Network v.
Public Utilities Com. (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 945, 960-61.) In California, administrative
decisions adhere to the “‘residuum rule,” under which the substantial evidence supporting an
agency’s decision must consist of at least ‘a residuum of legally admissible evidence.”” (lbid.,
internal citation omitted.) Thus, over timely objection, hearsay evidence “shall not be sufficient
in itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.” (Cal.
Gov. Code, § 11513(d); Lake v. Reed (1997) 16 Cal.4th 448, 458, discussing former Cal. Gov.
Code, § 11513(c).)

Hearsay evidence in administrative adjudicatory proceedings is usually referred to as
“administrative hearsay,” meaning that it is admissible to supplement or explain other evidence,
but not itself sufficient to support a finding. Thus, there must be “substantial evidence” to
support the majority Opinion, “and hearsay, unless specially permitted by statute, is not
competent evidence” to support the majority’s rulings. (See Walker v. City of San Gabriel
(1942) 20 Cal.2d 879, 881.) Furthermore, as the California Supreme Court stated: “Except in
those instances recognized by statute where the reliability of hearsay is established, hearsay
evidence alone ‘is insufficient to satisfy the requirement of due process of law, and mere
uncorroborated hearsay does not constitute substantial evidence.”” (In re Lucero L. (2000) 22
Cal.4th 1227, 1245, quoting Gregory v. State Board of Control (1999) 73 Cal.App.4th 584, 597.)

Here, the evidentiary record lacks any substantial evidence to support the majority Opinion.

2 Effective January 1, 2019, California Government Code section 11513 no longer applies to proceedings
before OTA. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, § 30216(d).)
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Thus, the Opinion did not follow the California “residuum rule” and relied on
inadmissible hearsay to support many of its findings. As I pointed out in the August 2, 2018
Dissent, the majority Opinion based many of its findings on inadmissible evidence and
speculation. Therefore, I conclude that there is insufficient evidence to justify the majority

Opinion, and I find there is good cause for a new hearing on this ground.

3. Contrary to Law

The August 2, 2018 Opinion is contrary to law. After considering the authorities in the
August 2, 2018 Dissent, “considering the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing
party, [. . .] and indulging in all legitimate and reasonable inferences” to uphold the
August 2, 2018 Opinion, in examining the record I cannot find the existence of “substantial
evidence” to support the majority Opinion. (Sanchez-Corea v. Bank of Am. (1985) 38 Cal.3d
892, 907.) Appellant had the burden of proving error in respondent’s application of the
substance-over-form doctrine, the application of which led respondent to determine that
appellant did not satisfy the exchange requirement in her attempted Internal Revenue Code (IRC)
section 1031, drop-and-swap exchange. (Todd v. McColgan (1949) 89 Cal.App.2d 509; Appeal
of Myers (2001-SBE-001) 2001 WL 37126924.) The majority Opinion fails to evaluate the
record through the legal framework established for drop-and-swap transactions, including
Commissioner v. Court Holding Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 331; U.S. v. Cumberland Public Service
Co. (1950) 338 U.S. 451; Appeals of Brookfield Manor, Inc. et al.(89-SBE-002) 1989 WL
37900; Chase v. Commissioner (1989) 92 T.C. 874; and Bolker v. Commissioner (1983) 81 T.C.
782.

Instead, I believe the majority Opinion erroneously conflates the analysis of the holding
requirement with that of the exchange requirement, relying on authorities that focus on the
holding requirement in order to determine whether appellant satisfied the exchange requirement
of IRC section 1031. In doing so, the Opinion cannot be valid according to the law. (Appeal of
NASSCO Holdings, Inc. (2010-SBE-001) 2010 WL 5626976.)
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Therefore, because I conclude that the majority Opinion is contrary to law and that their
disposition materially affected respondent’s rights, I find there is good cause for a new hearing

based on this ground as well.

DocusSigned by:

ﬂum T Kosas
ST Rosas
Administrative Law Judge

Date Issued: 1/28/2020
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M. GEARY, Administrative taw Judge: Pursuant to Revenue and Taxation Code (RTC)
| section i9045, Sharon Mitchell (appellant) appeals an action by the Franchise Tax Board (FTB)
determining‘$60,209 of additional tax and applicable interest for the 2007 tax year.
Office of Tax Appeals Administrative Law Judges Teresa A. Stanley, Alberto T. Rosas,
and Michael F. Geary held an oral hearing in this matter on April 24, 2018. When the hearing

concluded, OTA closed the record and took the matter-under submission,
SUMMARY

Appellant held an interest in a general partnership (Con-Med), which owned one piece of
land with a building located at 130 Tampico Way, Walnut Creek, California (the Property).
Con-Med decided to sell its only holding and dissolve. Most of the partners wanted to cash out
their investment, but two, appellant and her mother, wanted to keep their investment in real
estate through a like-kind exchange under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 1031 (1 031
exchange). To meet the diverse needs of the partners, arrangements were made for a sale of the

Property, and Con-Med redeemed the partnership interests of those who wanted to remain



invested, distributing to them undivided tenant-in-common (TIC) interests in the Property.
Those former partners later sold their interests when Con-Med sold its interest in the Property.
Acting through a qualified exchange intermediary, appellant then reinvested the proceeds from
the sale into like-kind property located in or néar Sedona, Arizona. We hold that appellant’s

exchange was a valid 1031 exchange, which entitled her to defer the recognition of taxable gain.
ISSUE
Did appellant complete a 1031 exchange?"'

FACTUAL FINDINGS

1. In 1991, appellaﬁt inherited a 10-percent interest in Con-Med, a general real estate
partnership. There were between 15 and 17 partners in Con-Med during the relevant
time. The Property was Con-Med’s only holding.

2. The.“Second Amended and Restated Partnership Agreement,” as amended by a first
amcndment,‘(partnership agreement) was in effect at the time of the transactions at issue
and it included the following provisions:

a) The purpose of the partnership was to operate, lease and sell, transfer or
exchange the Property. (Article II, para. 4.)

b) The vote or agreemc;,nt of a majority in interest of the partners was required to
sell or exchange. (Article VI, para. 17.a.(4).) '

¢) Con-Med operated on a cash basis. (Article VIIL, para. 24.)

d) The sale or other disposition of substantially all of the partnership’s assets and
the receipt in cash of the proceeds of the sale required dissolution of Con-Med
and the wind-up of its affairs. (Article X, para. 42.b.)

e) The managing partner had the exclusive authority to wind up the partnership’s
affairs and distribute its assets and to take any action authorized by law to do
those things. (Article X, para. 43.b.) )

3. According to an August 29, 1990 letter to Caroline Mitchell (appellant’s mother) from a
representative of the lessee of the Property, PTLA, Inc. (PTLA or lessee) proposed to

1 The parties also presented argument and evidence on a second, contingent issue: if we found that
appellant did not complete a 1031 exchange, we were to determine the correct basis for calculating her gain.
Because we find, below, that appellant did complete a 1031 exchange, we need not address that issue.
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either purchase the Property or restructure the ownership to include the lessee. The letter
stated, in part, “we could collectively consider a [1031] exchange rather than a sale. An
exchange would allow those of us that wish to defer capital gains taxes to do so. Those
that want to be ‘cashed out’ would be free to do so[;] however],] they would be
responsible for capital gains tax on their interest.”

According to a December 7, 2004 email from managing partner Mr. Tom Milner to the
other Con-Med partners, Caroline Mitchell became a member of the executive board of
Con-Med on or about that date.

According to Mr. Milner’s declaration under penalty of perjury, Con-Med recognized by
2005 that it would probably have to sell the Property and that Con-Med would need a
plan to accommodate partners who wanted to continue their investment in like-kind
property, as well as those who wanted to cash out their investment.

In a July 22, 2005 email, Mr. Milner advised other Con-Med partners that there had been
inquiries from at least one partner, Caroline Mitchell, regarding the procedure for
structuring any sale to facilitate a valid 1031 exchange. Mr. Milner stated in the email
that, if Con-Med sold the Property, some partners may cash out while others may choose
to exchange their interests under IRC section 1031, and he concluded the email by '
stating, “. . . I will make sure that our lawyer, Richard Goodman, has us set up the
mechanism correctly for any partners that wish to do.a ‘1031 exchange’ of the property.”
Mr. Milner’s July 27, 2005 email to Mr. Goodman stated that a number of the partners,
particularly appellant and her mother, wanted to have their share of the sale proceeds
deposited into an “exchange account.” It also indicated that Mr. Goodman had
previously indicated that “exchanging some partners into a new partnership while .
‘cashing out’ others would be difficult.”

On or about December 20, 2006, PTLA made an offer to Con-Med to buy the Property
for $6 million. The offe} indicates that the parties would cooperate if either barty elected
to do a 1031 exchange. ' . |

In a January 5, 2007 email, Mr, Milner confirmed an earlier telephone conference with
the Con-Med partners, during which they had discussed the pending offer. Among other
things, the email states that as many as three partners wanted to structure the transé.ction

to allow them to complete a 1031 ‘exchange of their respective partnership interests, and
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10.
11.

12.

13.

14,

15.

that there was some concern that breaking up the partnership before close of escrow

might allow one of the partners to prevent completion of the sale.

" Con-Med’s February 6, 2007 counteroffer priced the Property at $6.4 million.

PTLA’s February 26, 2007 counteroffer included a modification to allow either party an
option to extend the escrow for up to 60 days to facilitate a 1031 exchange. Con-Med
accepted this counteroffer. |

Mr. Milner’s March 2, 2007 email to the Con-Med partners stated he accepted the last
counteroffer, and explained there were several contingencies, including approval by the
Con-Med partners by March 21, 2007, The email also stated that the August 31, 2007
escrow close date could be extended to facilitate a 1031 exchange, and that, if Con-Med’s
accountants approved, Mr. Milner would adopt a second amendment to the partnership
agreement that would require dissolution of the partnership and distribution to the
partners of undivided interests in the Property before the close of escrow.

A November 17, 2007 “Agreement of Redemption of Partnership Interests” (redemption
agreement) states Con-Med authorized its managing partner to redeem appellant’s and
her mother’s interests in Con-Med. Appellant was fo relinquish her 10-percent interest in
Con-Med and receive in return a 10-percent interest in the Property and $2,000 cash.
Appellant’s mother was to relinquish her 8-percent interest in Con-Med and receive in
return an 8-percent intefest in the Property and $1,600 cash.? In its acknowledgment of
the Con-Med partnership agreement and amendment then in effect, the redemption

agreement makes no reference to a second amendment to the partnership agreement

(which would have required the dissolution of Con-Med prior to the close of escrow).

On November 20, 2007, Mr. Milner executed® a grant deed to transfer the undivided TIC
interests in the Property to appellant and her mother as trustees of their resbective
revocable trusts.* .

Pursuant to an “Exchange Agreement” and an “Assignment Agreement” dated November

26, 2007, and signed by appellant on November 28, 2007, First American Exchange

2 The interests in the Property distributed to appellant and her mother were undivided interests as tenants-

in-common (with each other and Con-Med).

3 A notary public acknowledged Mr, Milner’s signature on November 27, 2007.

4 Later references will not indicate appellant’s or her mother’s status as trustee.
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16.
17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22,

23.

Company (American Exchange) assumed the role of qualified intermediary to provide '
exchange services and facilitate appellant’s 1031 exchange. On November 28, 2007,
PTLA, as general partner of Tampico Investors, LP (Tampico), acknowledged receipt of
a copy of the Assignment Agreement.

Con-Med’s grant deed to appellant and her mdther was recorded on November 29,2007.
On November 28, 2007, Con-Med, appellant, and her mother executed a grant deed to
transfer a 19.7297-percent interest in the Property to Tampico, and an 80.2703-percent
interest in the Property to Meadows Investors, LLC (Meadows).’ This deed was recorded
on November 30, 2007.

First American Title Insurance Company (the title company) provided escrow services to
Con-Med, Caroline Mitchell, and appellant (collectively, the sellers), and to Tampico and
Meadows (collectively, the buyers) in connection with the planned sale and exchange of
the Property. . .

Mr. Goodman provided legal advice to the sellers regarding escrow and exchange
services and 1031 exchange procedures.

The title company disbursed 10-percent of the net proceeds from the sale of the

Property to American Exchangclb for the benefit of appellant. American Exchange

deposited the funds into appellant’s exchange account.

According to appellant’s May 35, 2008 statement of account from American Exchange,
the replacement property for the cxéhangc was identified on January 1, 2008, and the
purchase of that property was concluded by May 5, 2008.

On March 22, 2012, FTB issued a Notice of Proposed Assessment (NPA) to appellant. -
The notice informed appellant that, in FTB’s view, the transaction at issue did not qualify
as a 1031 exchange, that appellant’s gain from Con-Med’s sale of the Property must be
recognized in 2007, that the gain further limited appellant’s itemized deductions to the
extent they no longer exceeded two percent of appellant’s adjusted gross income, and that
additional tax ($60,209), and interest, were due.

Appellant filed a timely protest of the NPA. On February 13, 2014, FTB issued appellant

a Notice of Action affirming its determination. This timely appeal followed.

5 Evidence does not establish the relationship, if there was one, between Meadows and PTLA.
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DISCUSSION

Did appellant complete a 1031 exchange?

As relevant to the issues presented here, IRC section 1031 allows the nonrecognition of
gain or loss on the exchange of property held for investment or for productive use in a trade or
business (relinquished property) for like;kind property held for the same purpose (replacement
propeity). (IRC, § 1031(a)(1).)® The rationale for not recognizing gain or loss ~ for not viewing
the exchange as a taxable event — is that the taxpayer is in the same economic position before and
after the exchange; in other words, the taxpayer remains invested in the same kind of property.
(Magneson v. Commissioner (9th Cir. 1985) 753 F.2d 1490, 1494' (Magneson); Maloney v.
Commissioner (1989) 93 T.C. 89, 95-99 (Maloney); Appeal of Rago Development, et al. 2015-
SBE-001, June 23, 2015.)” “[T]he courts have permitted taxpayers great latitude in structuring
transactions[, and] . . . it is immaterial that the exchange was motivated by a wish to reduce
taxes.” (Biggs v. Commissioner (1978) 69 T.C. 905, 913-914, affd. (Sth Cir. 1980) 632 F.2d
1171 (Biggs); See generally Estate of Bartell v. Commissioner (2016) 147 T.C. 140, 161-176®
(Bartell) [in depth discussion of the requirements for a 1031 exchange].) '

FTB argues that the transactions at issue did not satisfy the “exchange” requirement of
section 1031 because appellant did not sell the Property. It contends éon-Med sold the
Property.” In this regard, FTB contends that the tax consequences of the subject transaction
should be determined by substance rather than form, by considering a series of interrelated

transactions as component parts of an overall plan rather than by viewing each of them

6 As relevant here, California conforms to IRC section 1031(a)(1).

7 precedential decisions of the State Board of Equalization (BOE) are viewable on the BOE website:
http://www.boe.ca.gov/legal/legalopcont.htm. :

8 The Internal Revenue Service has issued an Action on Decision, indicating it does not agree with Bartell
and will not follow it to the extent it holds that taxpayers that use accommodating parties outside the scope of
Revenue Procedure 2000-37 have engaged in a 1031 exchange éven if the taxpayer, rather than the accommodating
party, acquires the benefits and burdens of ownership of the replacement property before the taxpayer transfers the
relinquished property. (Action on Decision 2017-33 (Aug. 14,2017) [2017 WL 3880328].) Here, the replacement
property was not acquired before appellant transferred the relinquished property.

9FTB had previously argued that appellant also did not hold the Property for investment because Con-Med
held appellant’s interest during almost all of the time prior to the exchange, and she acquired her interest solely for
the purpose of almost immediately transferring that interest to another person. It appears FTB has since abandoned
this argument.
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separately.!? FTB argues that the sale of the Property was negotiated entirely by Con-Med and
that appellant held title to her 10-percent interest for a short time, during which she had none of
the risks or benefits of direct ownership. It urges us to view appellant’s redemption as an attempt
by appellant to improperly delay recognition of substantial gain by merely acting as a conduit
through which title passed from Con-Med to the buyers. FTB also contends that Con-Med’s
transfer of the 10-percent interest in the Property to appellant was an anticipatory assignment of
Con-Med’s income, which requires that we attribute all income from the sale to Con-Med.

Appellant argues that the subject transactions satisfied all requirements for a 1031
exchange. She alleges that she owned an interest in the Property, which she held for investment,
and exchanged that interest for like-kind property, which she has since held for investment.
Appellant further contends that her exchange precisely fits the rationale for allowing tax-deferred
exchanges in that she did not cash out her investment in the Property, but rather, she remained in
the same economic position (invested in real property) before and after the exchange. Appellant
states that, due in large part to the knowledge and advocacy of her mother, Con-Med gave all
partners an opportunity to structure the transaction to allow a valid 1031 exchange. Appellant
acknowledgeé that she did not personally negotiate the sale or-exchange of the Property.
However, she argues there is no requirement that she do so, and she asserts that her mother, who
shared appellant’s interest in completing a 1031 exchange and had the authority to negotiate on
appellant’s behalf, was involved in the negotiations and was instrumental in negotiating an
exchange option for the Con-Med partners.!!

The evidence shows that appellant continuously held an interest in the Property for
investment purposes and exchanged that interest for an interest in like-kind property. She held
her general partnership interest in the Property for investment from 1991 until November 27,
2007, when Con-Med deeded the 10-percent interest in the Property to her. She held her TIC
interest in the Property until she transferred it to the buyers. The fact that the form of her
ownership changed, from owning the property through her general partnership interest to owning

it directly, is of no real significance here. (See Magneson, supra, 753 F.2d, at pp. 1494-1495

19 When applicable, this “step-transaction doctrine” requires that we base our findings regarding tax
liabilityon a realistic view of the entire transaction, rather than on the integrated yet distinct steps of that transaction.
(Commissioner v. Clark (1989) 489 U.S. 726, 738.)

11 Appellant testified that she had given her mother a durable power-of-attorney, but she did not provide a
copy. We make no finding regarding whether appellant’s mother had appellant’s power-of-attorney.
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[holding that the contribution of the replacement property to a partnership in exchange for a
general partnership interest was a continuation of the taxpayer’s investment, unliquidated but in a
modified form].) And, the fact that she held her TIC interest with the intent to exchange it for
like-kind property is also immaterial. (See Bolker v. Commissioner (9th Cir. 1985) 760 F.2d
1039, 1045 (Bolker).) Finally, appellant transferred her entire.investment in the Property to a
qualified intermediary, which exchanged that investment for another, like-kind investment
‘property. We find these actions met the requirements of section 1031 o

FTB does not appear to dispufe that the various steps appellant and her partners took to
transfer the Property met the requirements of section 103 1. Rather, it urges us to look beyond
the mere form, and to the substance of the transaction, which, FTB argues, was Con-Med’s sale
of the property. More precisely, it urges us to apply the step-transaction doctrine, examine the
series of integrated transactions as a whole, and ignore the redemption and the transfers from
Con-Med to appellant and from appellant to the buyers (the rederhption and transfer procesé).
FTB argues we should find that Con-Med sold 100 percent of the Property and, cohsequently,
appellant’s ga}in should be subject to tax because she did not exchange the Property; she was
simply the recipient of cash from Con-Med’s sale of the property. Consideration of this
argument requires that we examine the history of appellant’s investment.

The evidence establishes that as early as 1990, Caroline Mitchell and PTLA were
discussing a 1031 exchange as a choice for the Con-Med partners. Some partners wanted to cash
out their investment, while other partners wanted to remain invested in real estate. As aresult,
the Con-Med partners needed a plan to accommodate their varying investment goals. There
were several ins:tances during 2005 through 2007 where Tom Milner acknowledged a need for a
plan that would allow Con-Med partners a 1031 exchange option, including one when he stated
that he would make sure that Con-Med’s lawyer correctly set up a mech.anis.r,n fora 1031
exchange. The mechanism that the Con-Med partners decided upon was the redemption and
transfer process. The partners who wanted to continue their investment in real estate would

redeem their partnership interests for undivided TIC interests in the Property, and would join

12 Con-Med’s $2,000 cash payment to appellant was simply the balance of cash value in her capital
account,
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?

with Con—Med to transfer the Property to the buyers, using qualified intermediaries to complete a
1031 exchange.

We find nothing in section 1031, its implementing regulations, or the pannership :
agreement that prohibited Con-Med from redeeming a partner’s share as part of a plan to
facilitate a 1031 exchange. The redemption of 18 percent of the partnership shares (10 percent
for appellant and 8 percent for Caroline Mitchell) was not a disposition of “substantially all of
[Con-Med’s] assets” that would have triggered a mandatory dissolution of Con-Med under
Article X, para. 42.b, of the partnership agreement. However, it is clear from the evidence, and
no one really disputes tfle fact, that the redemption was part of the plan to dispose of the Property
and eventually dissolve the partnership and wind up its affairs. The fedemption was the only
reasonable way for Con-Med to dispose of its only asset while accommodating its partners’
desires to either cash out or continue their investment in real estate. Mr. Milner had the authority
under Article X, Paragraph 43.b. to take any action authorized by law to dissolve the partnership
and wind up its affairs. The redemption and transfer process was within that authority.

The mderﬁption was not complete until Con-Med transferred the undivided 10-percent
interest in the Property to appellant. We see no legal obstacle to a transfer concurrent with the
redemption agreement. However, Con-Med waited until November 27, 2007, or later to deliver
the grant deed.'® The evidence indicates the delay may have been to ease the concerns of the
Con-Med partners who planned to cash out and were worried about appellant or her mother
preventing completion of the deal. Regardless, execution of the grant deed was within Mr.
Milner"s authority as the managing partner, and the evidence shows the transfer was valid. Once
this step was complete, only appellant could transfer her 10-percent interest in the Property.

Appellant held her interest in the Property until November 28, 2007, when the sellers
executed the grant deeds to the buyers. According to FTB, this is the time during which
appellant acted as a “mere conduit” for the passage of title from Con-Med to the buyers. But the
grant deed from Con-Med to appellant was valid on its face, and it is prima facie evidence that
appellant held title to a 10-percent interest in the Property for that brief period. The County
" Clerk recorded the grant deed on November 29, 2007, to update the chain of title." FTB does

13 The evidence does not show when Con-Med delivered the grant deed to appellant. The notary public did
not acknowledge Mr. Milner’s signature until November 27, 2007, and we infer from this that the deed was
delivered that day or the next.

4 A chain of title is the sequence of historical transfers of title to a property.
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not argue otherwise. Instead, FTB argues, in effect, that the brief period of ownership is reason
to ignore the transfer from Con-Med to appellant. We disagree. = .

Section 1031 does not require ownership of the relinquished property for any particular
period of time, and 1031 exchanges have involved situations where title to the replacement
broperty was held only briefly and only for the exchange. (See, e.g., Alderson v. Commissioner
(9th Cir. 1963) 317 F.2d 790 (4lderson); Barker v. Commissioner (1980) 74 T.C. 555 (Barker);

- Appeal of Continental Desert Properties, Inc. 85-SBE-114, Oct. 9, 1985; Mercantile Trust Co. of
Baltimore v. Commissioner (1935) 32 B.T.A. 82 (Mercantile Trust).) Furthermore, the courts
have allowed simultaneous or immediate transfers of the replacement property folléwing an
exchange (see Magneson, supra; Department of Revenue v. Marks (Or. T.C. 2009) 20 OTR 35,
2009 WL 3617493), and the tax court has observed that, “A trade of property A for property B, both of
like kind, may be preceded by a tax-free acquisition of property A at the front end, or succeeded by a tax-
free transfer of property B at the back end.” (Maloney, supra, 93 T.C., at p. 98.) FTB has cited no
authority for the proposition that such title must be held for more than one day, or for any specific time
period.

Commenting on the analysis by U.S. Board of Tax Appeals in the Mercantile Trust case, |
supra, the Ninth Circﬁit observed, with apparent approval, that “The Mercantile [Trust] case
appears to hold that one need not assume the benefits and burdens of ownership in property ‘
before exchanging if but may properly acquire title solely for the purpose of exchange and accept
title and transfer it in exchange for other like property, all as a part of the same transaction with
no resulting gain . . . .” (lderson, supra, 317 F.2d at p. 795 [emphasis added].) As noted by the
tax court in Barker, courts have generally shown an awareness of businesé and economic
necessities when examining a 1031 exchange. (Barker, supra, 74 T.C. at pp. 562-563.) It was
such business and economic necessities that caused appellant’s exchange to be executed how and
when it was. . '

The evidence shows that appellant obtained the TIC interest late in the process due
primarily to the diverse plans the partners had for the proceeds of their respective investments,
rather than due to any intent to avoid tax. Mr. Milner’s January 5, 2007 email shows there were
only a few partners who were interested in a 1031 exchange (exchanging partners), and at least
some of the other 14 br more partners (cashing-out partners) expressed concerns about the risks

of deeding interests to the exchanging partners before the close of escrow. The cashing-out
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partners were worried that one of the exchahging partners could block the sale. If most of the
Con-Med partners were worried about deedfng interests in the property to two or three partners,
they would have been even more reluctant to dissolve the partnership and distribute 17 interests
in the Property before escrow closed. It is likely that the timing of the process was also based on
other practical concerns. Con-Med functioned primarily through one person, Mr Milner. Each .
redemption of a partnership share and distribution of a property interest would have further
complicated management of the property. Therefore, valid business reasons appear to have
prompted a redemption later in the process, instead of when the intent to exchange was first .
expressed years earlier.

FTB’s reliance on Con-Med’s role in the negotiations for the “sale” of the Property is
misplaced. Con-Med’s representative negotiated the sale or exchange of the property on behalf
of its 17 partners. The faqf that only Con-Med’s name appears on counteroffers is simply a
reflection of the state of the title to the Property at the time. The plan by some partners to do
1031 exchanges was known to all from the beginning, and everyone knew that the transfer of the
Property may involve procedures and documents to allow the exchanges to occﬁ'r.

We see no reason to ignore any step in the series of integrated transactions that resulted in
appellant’s exchange of the Property. FTB views the true nature of the transaction to Be Con-
Med’s sale of the Property. But that view is incomplete. The evidence shows that the true nature
of the transaction was never an outright sale by Con-Med. Appellant and her mother, at least,
never wanted to cash out their investment in the Property. They wanted fo remain invested in
like-kind property and, with the cooperation of their partners, the buyers, and others, and careful
planning, they were able to accomplish that legitimate goal. None of the steps we discuss above
were meaningless, and, as already stated, each was necessary and had economic substance. In
the end, every participant obtained what they wanted: Con-Med in fact dissolved, and those
partners who chose to cash out presumably paid tax on their gains; the buyers purchased the
Property; and appellant remained (and still remains) invested in like-kind property. We find that
the circumstances do not require application of the step-transaction doctrine.

The cases on which FTB relies are distinguishable on their facts. Commissioner of
Internal Revenue v. Court Holding Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 331 (Court Holding), which was not a
section 1031 case, involved a corporation that owned apartments and negotiated a sale to a group

of related buyers (the lessees and their sister and brother-in-law). There was an oral agreement
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on the terms of the sale, but the cirporation declined to reduce the agreement to writing when it

realized it would owe substantial 15

apital gains tax if the sale by the corporation was completed.
Instead of completing the sale, the corporation declared a “liﬁuidating dividend” that resulted in
the transfer of the apartments to the sharcholders who then completed a sale to the lessees’ sister
on substantially the same terms. The tax court concluded that the liquidating dividend and
transfer of the property were “mere formalities designed ‘to make the transaction appeaf to be
other than what it was’” for the sole purpose of avoiding the tax. (/d. at p. 333.) With one of
three judges dissenting, the circuit court of appeals disagreed, “drawing different inferences
from the record,” and finding that the corporation’s sale of the property had been called off, that
there was no binding agreement by the corporation to sell the property, and that the sale by the
former shareholders was a different transaction. (Zbid.) The Sﬁprefne Court revérsed, and .
summarized the basis for the reversal as follows: “There was evidence to support the findings of
the Tax Court, and its findings must therefore be accepted by the courts. [Citations omitted.] On
the basis of these findings, the Tax Court was justified in attributing the gain from the sale to
respondent corporation.” (/d. at pp. 333-334.) -

That evidence before that tax court revealed circumstances far different than those
presented here. In Court Holding Co. v. Commissioner (1943) 2 T.C. 531, the sole shareholders
of a corporation orally agreed on behalf of the corporation to sell the property but at the last
minute refused to sign a binding written contract of sale, not because they did not want the sale
to happen on the agreed-upon terms, but because they wanted to permanently avoid substantial
corporate income tax on the gain. There was evidence before the tax court of the shareholders’
'failure to obser\}e corporate formalities. They intermingled funds, failed to maintain adequate
business records, and accepted payments to the corporation as if they had been made to them as
individuals. They also delayed corporate dissolution, apparently for the sole purpose of
insulating the property from possible claims by their personal creditors. In essence, the tax court
concluded that the 'corporate liquidation was designed to make a sale by the corporation to the

buyers appear to be a sale by the former shareholders to the buyers, and it determined that the

15 As noted by the court, the corporation’s gains on the sale would have been taxable to it as ordinary
income, but the corporation would have realized no taxable gain distributing its assets to the sharcholders in partial
or in complete liquidation, regardless of how much they may have appreciated in value since the corporation
acquired them. (Court Holding, supra, 324 U.S. at p. 333, fn. 3.)
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liquidating dividend was a sham to avoid corporate income tax, and on that basis upheld the
assessment on the corporation.

The case before us does not involve a sham transaction or an attempt to improperly avoid
taxes. It does not involve taxpayers who paid little attention to the formalities of corporate
existence or record-keeping requirements. It involves the use of a series of reasonable,
necessary, and integrated transactions to delay, not avoid, the recognition of gain, which section
1031 allows. There was no last-minute decision to change the parties to the sale. The sellers and
buyers always understood that a 1031 exchange option was on the table.!

Kimbell-Diamond Milling Company (1950) 14 T.C. 74 (Kimbell-Diamond) is also not
controlling here. There, Corporation A wanted to acquire the assets of Corporation B. Rather
than buying the assets, Corporation A purchased all outstanding shares of Corporation B and
immediately liquidated Corpoi'ation B to acquire its assets. The plan was to avoid taxes by
disguising the nature and purpose of a series of transactions. As we state above, appellant was
not trying to avoid taxes.!” She simply wanted to remain invested in like-kind property, an
activity encouraged by the delayed recognition of gain allowed by section 1031. However,
because all Con-Med partners did not share her goal — sohe wanted to cash out their investment
— the partnership and the partners used a series of integrated transactions to accomplish their
diverse and legitimate goals. In Kimbell-Diamond, the fbrm of the taxpayer’s transaction was
not compelled by business considerations and did not serve the purpose of the relevant statutory
provisions. In contrast, the form of appellant’s transaction was compelled by the varying goals
of her business partners and consistent with the purpose of section 1031, which is to not
recognize gaih when the taxpayer maintains her investment in qualifying like-kind property.

FTB’s reliance on Chase v. Commissioner (1989) 92 TC 874 (Chase) is also misplaced.
Chase involved a limited partnership and a taxpayer who had the authority to control the timing
and transactions to change the tax consequences. In contrast, appellant was a general partner
who had no management control greater than her 10-percent interest allowed. Mr. Chase caused
the limited partnership to “liquidate” his 46-percent limited partnership interest and deed an

undivided interest in a partnership asset (apartments) to him in violation of the partnership

16 Jones v. Grinnell (10th Cir. 1950) 179 F.2d 873, also cited by FTB, is factually similar to Court Holding
and not persuasive for'the same reasons.

17 Unlike the situations in Court Holding and Kimbell-Diamond, the Con-Med partners were not subject to
entity-level taxes.
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agreement. Appellant, on the other hand, worked with the managing partner, the partnership’s
attorney, and others to structure the sale of the Property to include the redemption and transfer
process to allow her to do the 1031 exchange, all in a manner consistent with the partnership
agreement. In Chase, the escrow payment to the trustee (for the benefit of the taxpayer) '
represented an allocation of Mr. Chase’s share of total net proceeds in his capacity as a limifed
partner, and not as a straight allocation of his 46-percent interest. In the case before us, the
escrow company disbursed 10 percent of the net proceeds from the sale to American Exchange
on behalf of appellant, which is what we would expect for a 10-percent owner of the Property.
As the facts demonstrate, Mr. Chase used his control of the partnership to manipulate the sale of
a partnership asset to gain a tax advantage, while failing to act in a way that was consistent with
_ the transaction forms he chose. On the other hand, appellant, who through no choice of her own
was faced with the prospect of losing an investment property when she wanted to remain
invested in that kind of property, worked with her partners, the buyers, and others to exchange
one investment property for another. . ' | |
Appellant cites cases that more closely resemble her situation. In Magreson, the court
‘initially acknowledges that it may not be appropriate to collapse the steps of a transaction if the
transaction could not have been achieved directly, and it observes that, “[b]etween two equally
direct ways of achiev'ing the sémc result, the Magnésons were free to choose the method which
entailed the most tax advantages to them.” (Magneson, supra, 753 F.2d at p. 1497.) Under the
facts before us, we see only one realistic way the Con-Med partners could have achieved their
- goal of allowing some partneré to cash out of their ownership interests in the Property while
allowing other partners to continue their investment in real property: the one they used. FTB has
. not suggested another, and while one may ex1st the Con-Med partners were not required to
select a process that would maximize the tax.!®
The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals decided Bolker just a few months after it decjded
Magneson. Mr. Bolker.was the sole shareholder of Crosby Corporation (Crosby), which owned
real property in Montebello. He planned to develop the property and for tax purposes decided to
liquidate the corpération and take ownership of the property. Before completing the process,

though, Mr. Bolker decided to dispose of the property rather than developing it. On the day of

'¥ We note that our conclusions in this opinion are based on the documentary evidence, appellant’s
testimony, and the law. We give no weight to the testimony of appellant’s proffered expert, Jeff Krajewski.
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the liquidation and transfer of the property to Mr. Bolker, he agreed to exchange the ﬁroperty,
and several entities contracted Jo take part in a multi-party exchange through which one party
would receive the Montebello property and Mr. Bolker would receive like-kind property. A little
more than three months later, all transactions closed simultaneously, and Mr. Bolker reported the
disposition of the Montebello property as a 1031 exchange.

The IRS made the same arguments in Bolker that FTB initially made here. It argued that
Crosby exchanged the property, not Mr. Bolker, and that Mr, Bolker did not hold the
relinquished property for investment. While Bolker did not address the IRS’s argument based on
the step-transaction doctrine (because the IRS failed to raise the argument in the lower court), its
" analysis of the section 1031 issue is revealing. The Ninth Circuit notes that the Bolker and
Magneson tax court reasoned that if each transaction in a series of integrated transactions did not
trigger a tax, the combination of transactions should not trigger a tax. It goes on to point out that,
while its affirmance of Magneson recognized the importance of such continuity of investment, it
was based on the conclusion that a purported 1031 exchange must satisfy the specific
requirements of the statute. Ultimately, the court declared that, in the absence of controliing
precedent, the pléin language of the statute prevails. The court states its holding as follows:

... . if a taxpayer owns property which he does not intend to liquidate or to use for
personal pursuits, he is “holding” that property “for productive use in trade or

business or for investment” within the meaning of section 1031(a). Under this

formulation, the intent to exchange property for like-kind property satisfies the

holding requirement, because it is not an intent to liquidate the investment or to

use it for personal pursuits. Bolker acquired the Montebello property with the

intent to exchange it for like-kind property, and thus he held Montebello for
investment under section 1031(a).

(760 F.2d at p. 1045 [emphasis in original].)

As we note above (citing Maloney, supra, 93 T.C. at p. 98), a taxpayer’s 1031 exchange
can be preceded by a tax-free acquisition of the relinquished property or followed by a tax-free
transfer of the replacement property.'? Here, appellant’s 1031 exchange was preceded by a tax-
free acquisition of the relinquished property. The redemption of her partnership interest in .

exchange for the TIC interest was not taxable. (IRC, § 731(a)(1).) Allowing the integration of

19 Bolker, supra, 760 F.2d at p. 1044, also discusses the tax court’s conclusion that if each step is entitled
to nonrecognition treatment, the combination of the steps should be treated similarly if there is continuity of
investment. However, while the appellate court did not specifically disagree with the tax court’s analysis, it
affirmed the tax court’s decision because the taxpayer’s actions satisfied the plain language of IRC section 1031.
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the steps as a 1031 exchange serves section 1031°s purpose of promoting continuity of
investment. ,

Finally, the evidence does not support FTB’s argument that there was an anticipatory
assignment of ConlMed’g income. FTB has not explained how there'could have been an
improper assignment of income here, given that Con-Med, a partnership, was a pass-through
entity. (See RTC, § 17851; IRC, § 701.) It did not owe taxes on its income. It reported its A
partners’ net gains or losses, and each partner, in turn, feported- the tax. In that scﬁse, all its
income and losses were properly “assigned” to the partners. FTB also has not cited a case to
support its assertion that an antic.ipatory assignment can occur under our facts.?’ To the extent
FTB is arguing that the redemption and transfer process was an improper anticipafory
assignment because Con-Med “assigned” to appellant the right to receive proceeds from the sale
of her 10-percent interest in the Property directly from the buyers, we have addressed that
- argument, above.

For the reasons stated above, we find that Con-Med did not sell 100 percent of the
Property to the buyers, that appellant sold 10 percent of the Property. to the buyers, and that
appellant completed a 1031 exchange of her interest in the Proﬁeny.

HOLDING

Appellant completed a 1031 exchange of her interest in the Property following Con-

Med’s redemption.

0 Salvatore v. Commissioner (2d. Cir. 1970) 434 F.2d 600 is distinguishable because it did not involve a
pass-through entity.
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DISPOSITION

We reverse the action of the FTB in proposing an assessment of $60,209 of additional

DocuSigned by:
Michael F. Geary

Administrative Law Judge

tax, plus applicable interqst, for the 2007 tax year.

I concur:

[—Docuslgned by:

Teresa A. Séé;liéy
Administrative Law Judge
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TING OPINI
A.ROSAS, Administrative Law Judge: I respectfully dissent.

It is a well-accepted principle that application of tax laws depends on the substance of a
transaction and not its form. (Commissioner v. Court Holding Co. (1945) 324 U.S. 331, 334
(Court Holding).) There is precedent, entrenched in this nation’s tax laws for over 70 years, that
a “sale by one person cannot be transformed for tax purposes into a sale by another by using the
latter as a conduit through which to pass title.” (/bid.) In a drop-and-swap transaction the “first
qﬁestion we must consider-‘is who made the exchange . . ..” (Bolker v. Commissioner (1983) 81
T.C. 782, 794 [citatidn omitted], affd. (9th Cir. 1985) 760 F.2d 1039.) Grant deeds are not
dispositive fortax purposes.! It is incorrect to suggest that certain types of forms, i.e., a ‘
redemption agreement followed by a grant deed, should be elevated over substance.? .

* Internal Revenue Code (IRC) section 10313 provides an exception from tﬁc general rule
set forth in section 1001(c) requiring the current recognition of gain or loss realized upon the sale
or exchange of property. Appellant has the burden of ;;roving that she falls within section 1031’s

‘requirements. Appellant was a general partner in a partnership, and while “[aj taxpayér is free to
adopt such organization for [her] affairs as [she] may choose . . .,” having chosen to hold a
general partnership interest, “[she] must accept the tax disadvantages.” (Higgins v. Smith (1940)
308 U.S. 473, 477.) As discussed below, appellant did not show that she satisfies the
requirements of section 1031. Moreover, the evidence is clear that, for tax purposes, Con- Med
Properties (Con-Med), a California general partnership, was the sole seller of the real property
located at 130 Tampico Way in Walnut Creek, California (Property).

! As discussed in this dissent, in marny of the cases cited by the parties, the courts found that, regardless of
whose name appeared on the deed, the sale was attributable to another person or entity for tax purposes. While
grant deeds may control for purposes of property law and civil law, grant deeds are not rigidly binding for tax law.
(See, e.g., Frank Lyon Co. v. United States (1978) 435 U.S. 561, 573 [“In the field of taxation, administrators of the
laws and the courts are concerned with substance and realities, and formal written documents are not rigidly
binding.”])

2The substance-over-form doctrine originated in Gregory v. Helvering (1935) 293 U.S. 465, and courts
have applied the doctrine to disallow tax benefits arising out of transactions the forms of which have differed from
their substance. (See, e.g., Commissioner.v. CM Holdings (3d Cir, 2002) 301 F.3d 96, 102 [noting that the rationale
behind Gregory and its progeny is that “courts should not elevate form over substance by rewarding taxpayers who
have engaged in transactions that lack any purpose save that of tax savings. The taxpayer has the burden of showing
that the form of the transaction accurately reflects its substance . . . .”’].) :

3 As relevant to the issues here, California conforms to IRC section 1031 per Revenue and Taxation Code
section 18031. Further statutory references are to the IRC, unless otherwise noted.
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L SUMMARY OF THE FACTS

In 2005, the Con-Med partners discussed sellixig the Property. Con-Med’s managing
partner advised that anyone interested in a section 1031 exchange should speak with their tax
advisors.* Mr. Milner further advised that it was uncertain if a sale would occur, stating that it
was a “big ‘if””” whether the sale “comes to pass . . ..”

On December 14,2006, PTLA presented Con-Med with an Agreement of Purchase and
Sale (Purchase Agreement). The terms included a purchase price of $6 million and a closing
date of May 31, 2007. With Con-Med’s consent, PTLA could assign the agreement.’ The
Purchase Agreement included a provision that Con-Med and PTLA agreed to cooperate with
each other if ¢ither of them chose to qualify for a section 1031 exchange. However, this
pr'ovision does not include anything about Con-Med transferring a tenancy-in-cbmmon (TIC)
interestS to appellant. The Purchase Agreement identified Con-Med as the sble owner and seller
of the Property. Appellant is not listed or named in the Purchase Agreement.

OnlJ anuary.3, 2007, many Con-Med partners participated in a phone conference to
discuss the pros and cons of PTLA’s offer. Two days later, Mr. Milner emailed the partners to
summarize the conference. He wrote that they “would have to break up the partnership into
tenants-in-common” to allow some partners to do a section 1031 exchange. He explained there
was a potential risk that one partner, after receiving a TIC interest, could “foul the deal” by
changing his or her mind during escrow. In his affidavit, Mr. Milner stated that Con-Med
“needed to put a plan in place to relinquish the property while allowing the partners to continue

their investment if they wished.” The plan contemplated that (a) Con-Med would dissolve

[l

4 Appetlant consulted an attorney who, at one point in time, directed appellant to read an article he wrote
about section 1031 exchanges. He explained that his article detailed the issues, problems, and risks relating to
section 1031 exchanges such as appellant’s. Appellant did not read this article.

5 The evidence suggests Con-Med exercised this right of assignment. The buyer changed from PTLA to
Tampico Investors LP and Meadows Investors LLC. This was all part of the same deal. “PTLA had changed into
another entity to buy the property . . .” appellant explained during her testimony, “they were callmg themselves
Tampxco Investors and Meadow Investors LLC.”

 While the majority opinion refers to appellant’s “interest,” the opinion appears to make no distinction
between appellant’s pannershlp interest and her TIC interest. However, the distinction between these interests is -
1mp0rtant because owning an interest in a general partnership that owns real property is not equivalent to ownmg
a direct TIC interest in the underlying real property. (Corp. Code, § 16501.)
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“immediately prior to Close of Escrow,” and (b) each partner would receive a TIC interest in the
Property. But, Con-Med abandoned this plan.’ ' '

Appellant’s testimony gave background information about the partners’ history: “The
older people were all together, in 1969 when the.y made their original investment.” Over the
years, many original partners passed away, and their shares were inherited by others. This
resulted in a “whole new generation of people who didn’t know [appellant and her mother].”

Early on, when appellant and her mother informed the other partners of their intent to
undertake a section 1031 exchange, many of the other partners were concerned that appellant and
her mother could “spoil” the deal. Appellant testified that the other partners did not want
appellant (or her mother) “muddying the waters.” Appellant explained “there were a few
sticking points” with the sale. “There were just a few points where it was looking like maybe
this wasn’t even going to happen,” she testified, “and the last thing that . . . the last things these
other m‘embers of the partnership wanted was to have a couple wildcards, as far as they could
tell, running amuck. That was a concern, and that’s.why I remember that very specifically.” It is
important to understand this distmst; this background helps illustrate why appellant was not
involved in the negotiations to sell the Property. Instead, Con-Med negotiéted and closed the
sale.

Mr. Milner wrote that he planned to present Con-Med’s counter-offer to PTLA, but there
is no indication that the counter-offer would be on behalf of both Con-Med and appellant. There
_ is no evidence that Mr. Milner planned to discuss appellant’s'eventual sale of a TIC interest. The
documentary evidence suggests Con-Med made a counter-offer dated January 12, 2007 (one
week after Mr. Milner’s email), and that PTLA made a counter-offer dated January 25, 2007. As
part of these counter-offers, the price increased from $6 million to $6.2 million. The following
month, Con-Med’s counter-offer déted February 6, 2007, increased the price to $6.4 million, and
it identified only Con-Med as the seller. Appellant was not involved in the negotiations. |

PTLA made a counter-offer dated February 26, 2007, which amended the closing date to
August 31, 2007, and added a provision allowing either Con-Med or PTLA the option to extend

7 Instead of dissolving “immediately prior to Close of Escrow,” Co;l-Med dissolved after escrow. Instead
of each partner receiving a TIC interest in the property and selling their interests to the buyer, Con-Med stayed intact
and only appellant and her mother received TIC interests in the property.

Appeal of Sharon Mitchell 20



the closing for up to an additional 60 days to complete a section 1031 exchange.? The Purchase
Agreement and counter-offers do not say anything about appellant’s interest (partnership or
TIC), about her being one of the sellers, or about her wanting to undertake a section 1031
exchange. There is no evidence that prior to November 28, 2007, PTLA knew about appellant,
let alone her partnership or TIC interest, or her desire to undertake a section 1031 exchange.

From December 14, 2006, through the close of escrow, Con-Med received rent of
$17,516 per month. Con-Med paid all expenses associated with the Property. Appellant did not
pay any part of these expenses. Nor did the tenants pay directly to appellant ady part of the rent.

On November 17, 2007, two weeks before close of escrow, the Con-Med partners
executed a Redemption Agreement that, among other things, approved redemption of appellant’s
partnership interest and approved distribution to her of a 10-percent TIC interest in the Property.
This agreement said Con-Med—and not appellant—was under contract to sell the Property.

The first deed granted appellant and her mother a 10-percent and 8-percent, respectively,
undivided TIC interest in the Property (Grant Deed #1). The second deed transferred all interest
in the Property from Con-Med, appellant, and appellant’s mother to the buyers (Grant Deed #2).°
Although both deeds included a pre-printed date of November 20, 2007, Mr. Milner’s signatures,
on behalf of Con-Med, were notarizeéd in California on November 27, 2007—three days before
close of escrow; and appellant’s and her mother’s signatures on Grant Deed #2 were notarized in
Arizona on November 28, 2007.'® Grant Deed #1 was recorded on November 29, 2007. Grant
Deed #2 was recorded 24 hours later, on November 30, 2007. Thus, according to the
documentation and notarizations, after Con-Med distributed a TIC interest to appellant via Grant
Deed #1, just one day later appellant’s signature on Grant Deed #2 was notarized, and Grant

Deed #2 transferred that TIC interest to the buyers.

8 Notwithstanding this added provision, there is no evidence that the option to extend the closing was a
provision intended for appellant’s benefit. The counter-offer makes no reference to appellant.

° All other terms of the Purchase Agreement and counter-offers stayed the same. For instance, the sales
price remained-at $6.4 million.

0 Regardless of the pre-printed dates on the deeds, based on the locations and the dates of the notarizations,

it is more likely than not that Mr. Milner signed the deeds on November 27th, whereas Appellant and her mother
signed Grant Deed #2 on November 28th.
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1L DISCUSSION

A. For Tax Purposes, Con-Med Sold the Property
1. Court Holding

In Court Holding, the Supreme Court set forth various legal principles—substance over
form, assignment of income, sham transactions, and the step-transaction doctrine:

The incidence of taxation depends upon the substance of a transaction. The tax

consequences which arise from gains from a sale of property are not finally to be

determined solely by the means employed to transfer legal title. Rather, the

transaction must be viewed as a whole, and each step, from the.commencement of

negotiations to the consummation of the sale, is relevant. A sale by one person

cannot be transformed for tax purposes into a sale by another by using the latter as

a conduit through which to pass title. To permit the true nature of a transaction to

be disguised by mere formalisms, which exist solely to alter tax liabilities, would
seriously impair the effective administration of the tax policies of Congress.

(Court Holding, supra, 324 U.S. at p. 334, fns. omitted.)

Court Holding and its Supreme Court companion case, United States v. Cumberland
Public Service Co. (1950) 338 U.S. 451 (Cumberland), dealt with whether a corporation was
required to pay tax on gain from the sale of property that was first distributed in liquidation and
then sold by the shareholders. Justice Black wrote both opinions. While both opinions applied
the same legal principles, they reached different results because the cases involved different
facts: Court Holding held for the government and Cumberland held for the taxpayer.!!

The transaction in this appeal fits squarely within the rule laid down by the Supreme
Court that a “sale by one person cannot be transformed for tax purposes into a sale by
another . .. " (Court Holding, supra, 324 U.S. at p. 334.)'* However, in this appeal, the
majority opinion dismisses this precedent. For example, the majority opinion points out that
Court Holding is not a section 1031 exchange case, and the majority opinion attempts to

distinguish Court Holding by focusing on the specific corporate transactions in that case. But,

11 “Whoever negotiated the sale is irrelevant,” appellant’s counsel argued during oral hearing. These two
Supreme Court cases prove that this argument is entirely without merit, because these cases show that the facts
surrounding who negotiated the sale are extremely relevant.

121n Court Holding, a corporation negotiated the sale of its only asset, an apartment building. The

shareholders sold on the precise terms the corporation had negotiated. The Supreme Court upheld the tax court’s
determination that the corporation, rather than the shareholders, had sold the building.
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courts have applied Court Holding to transactions involving section 1031 exchanges as well as to
cases involving partnership transactions. (See, e.g., Chase v. Commissioner (1989) 92 T.C. 874,
881 (Chase).) The State Board of Equalization (SBE) has also cited Court Holding in cases
involving section 1031 exchanges. (See, e.g., Appeal of Brookfield Manor, Inc. et al., 89-SBE-
002, Jan. 11, 1989 (Brookfield Manor).)

In this appeal, Con-Med was listed as the seller on the Purchase Agreement and counter-
offers. Con-Med negotiated the sale. There is no evidence that PTLA was aware ch appeilant or
.her intent to undertake a section 1031 exchange. There is no evidence that Mr. Milner or
appellant’s mother negotiated with the buyers on appellant’s behalf.'* Eleven months after the
Purchase Agreement, Con-Med redeemed appellant’s partnership interest, and on November 27,
2007, Grant Deed #1 was notarized. Grant Deed #1 distributed to appellant a 10-percent
undivided TIC interest in the Property. The next day, on the 28th, appellant’s and her mother’s
signatures on Grant Deed #2 were notarized. Grant Deed #2 transferred all interest in the
Property to the buyers. Escrow closed two days later on the 30th, and the Property sold on the
precise terms Con-Med had negotiated.

In Court Holding, over a period of five months, Court Holding Co., a corporation holding
title to real property, entered negotiations with the lessees for the sale of the property. Similarly,
over a period of three months,'* Con-Med, a general partnership holding title to real property,
entered negotiations with PTLA, the lessee of the Property.

A sales contract was drawn up in Court Holding, with the corporation’s former
shareholders as sellers instead of the corporation. The new contract contained substantially the
same terms that the corporation and lessees had agreed upon. Here, there is no evidence of any
contract naming appellant as one of the sellers. There is no evidence that the Purchase
Agreement and counter-offers were amended to add appellant as a seller. Appellant testified that

the recording of Grant Deed #2 was a continuation in the process. The eventual sale was for

13 n fact, based on the partners’ distrust, it comes as no surprise that there is no evidence of appellant’s
involvement in the sale. She did not take part in discussions. She did not negotiate with PTLA. There is no
evidence that the buyers were even aware of her or her intentions. The evidence shows Con-Med wanted to ensure
that only the partnership conducted the negotiations, in order to avoid the complications and disputes that could arise
if Con-Med disributed TIC interests to its partners and allowed the partners to jointly negotiate the sale.

14 This three-month negotiation period runs from the Purchase Agreement and Sale dated December 14,
2006, through the counter-offer dated February 26, 2007.
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substantially the same terms that Con-Med and PTLA had agreed upon, including the same sales
price of $6.4 million,!?

In Court Holding, three days after thé contract was drawn up with the former
" shareholders, the sales transaction closed. Here, just one day after Grant Deed #1 was notarized,
distributing a TIC interest to appellant, appellant’s signature on Grarllt Deed #2 was notarized;
and Grant Deed #2 transferred that TIC interest to the buyers. Escrow closed two.days later.
Based on the notarizations, Appellant held title to a 10-percent TIC interest in the Property for
one day. Escrow closed under the same terms of the pre-arranged agreement. The majority
states that they see only one realistic way for this sale to achieve appellant’s and the other
partners’ goals—the way they used. However, there were other ways to structure the transaction,
as appellant’s own expert witness acknowledged.'®

In Court Holding, the Supreme Court found that “the Tax Court was justified in
attributing the gain from the sale to respondent corporation.” (Court Holding, supra, 324 U.S. at
p. 334.) Likewise, the evidence here is overwhelming that respondent was correct in attﬁbuting
the sale of the Property to Con-Med for tax purposes. The facts in this appeal more closely
resemble those from Court Holding than Cumberland. Yes, appellant and the majority are
correct that Court Holding involved corporate transactions (not partnership transactions) and that
Court Holding was not a section 1031 case. However, as noted previously, the case law is clear
that Court Holding applies to transactions involving section 1031 exchanges as well as to

partnerships and partners. (See, e.g., Chase, supra; and Brookfield Manor, supra.)"’

15 The differences were: (1) the seller changed from Con-Med (100%) to Con-Med (82%), appellant (10%),
and appellant’s mother (8%); (2) PTLA created two entities to hold title (Tampico Investor LP & Meadows
Investors LLC); and (3) although there was an option to extend the closing date past August 31, 2007, by up to an
additional 60 days, escrow closed approximately 90 days later, on November 30, 2007.

16 For example, appellant’s expert testified that he “would have attempted to drop her interest perhaps
sooner than what actually took place.” He also testified that he “would have made her a party to the contract at the
onset, or subsequently by way of addendum to the purchase and sale agreement.”

V" One of the issues in Brookfield Manor, supra, was whether, under Court Holding, a section 1031
exchange was made by the corporation or by the individual shareholders. SBE determined that the corporation,
“took an active role in the exchange,” that the corporation “negotiated the essence of the exchange” prior to its
dissolution, and that, eventually, “the exchange was conducted under substantially the same terms™ agreed to by the
corporation and the buyer. There was no evidence that the shareholders “conducted any negotiations on their own
behalf.” SBE therefore found that the sale was properly imputed to the corporation.
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2. Substance-Over-Form Doctrine

‘The Chase decision demonstrates that substance-over-form principles apply in the
context of section 1031. In these section 1031 drop-and-swap cases, where the issue is who
made the exchange, “[t]his question is one of fact.” (Bolker, supra, 81 T.C. at p. 794 [citation
omitted].) Chase is not factually distinguishable. Using the substance-over-form doctrine, the
tax court found that although the partriership prepared a deed conveying an undivided interest in
the property to the partner; the partner never acted as an owner, never paid any of the property’s
expenses, never received any of the rents from the property, and was not a party to the sales
contract. Therefore, in substance, the partnership (not the partner) was treated as disposing of
the property, while it was the partner (not the partnership) who acquired replacement like-kind
property. Thus, neither the partnership nor the partner was involved in a valid like-kind
exchange.

In the same way, appellant never acted as an owner, never paid any of the Property’s
expenses, never directly received any of the rents from the Property, and was not a party to the
sales contract. From December 14, 2006, through the close of escrow, Con-Med received rent of
$17,516 per month, and Con-Med paid all expenses associated with the Property. During this
year-long period, appellant did not directly receive any rents-and did not pay any expenses.

Mbreover, the evidence suggests that even if appellant had wanted to be a party to the
sales contract, the partners would not have allowed it. They were afraid of her “muddying the
waters” for the rest of them. Thus, appellant was not listed in the sales contract, she was not
involved in the negotiations, and it appears that the buyers were not even aware of her IO-berccnt
TIC interest until the closing. '

In Chase, the buyer did not negotiate with the Chases, and correspondence from the
buyer did not indicate that the buyer knew that the Chases, as-individuals, held any ownership
interest in the apartments. In this appeal, the evidence is overwhelming that PTLA negotiated
with Con-Med only; specifically, it negotiated with Con-Med’s managing partner. PTLA did not
negotiate with appellant, and the evidence does not indicate that the buyers even knew that
appellant, as an individual, held any interest in the Property. In fact, appellant’s expert witness
testified that the earliest moment when the buyers could have known of appellant’s interest was
when the buyers signed the Acknowledgement of Receipt of a Copy of Assignment on
November 28, 2007.
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In Chase, the tax court also stated:

There is no indication that any party to the sale believed that anyone other than
JMI held title at the time of RWT’s offer to purchase. Further, there is no
evidence of negotiations by petitioners on behalf of themselves concerning the
terms for the disposition of the Apartments. Also, petitioners never paid any of
the operating costs of the Apartments or their share of the brokerage commission.
Further, petitioners did not receive, or have credited to them, any of the

" Apartment’s rental income.

(Chase, supra, 92 T.C. at pp. 881-882.) Likewise, in this appeal, there is no indication thaf the
buyers believed that anyone other than Con-Med held title at the time PTLA executed the
Purchase Agreement on December 12, 2006, or at the time PTLA executed the February 26,
2007 counter-offer. Further, there is no evidence of negotiations by appellant on her own behalf
concerning the terms for the disposition of the Property. Alsd, appellant never paid any of the
operating costs of the Property and did not receive, or have credited to her, any of the Property’s
rental income.

In Chase:

Petitioners final argument regarding the substance issue is that JMI’s general

partners acted as petitioners’ agents in negotiating the disposition of the John

Muir Apartments to Traweek. This, petitioners argue, explains why they did not

appear, individually, as parties in most of the documents to this transaction. We

find petitioners’ argument, in this regard, both self-serving and unsupported by
the record.

(Chase, supra, 92 T.C. at p. 882.) Appellant’s arguments are equally unsupported by the record.
For example, appellant argues that her mother was actively involved in the sales
negofiations, that her mother represented appellan?’s interests in these negotiations, and that her
mother would have informed. the buyers of appellant’s interest in the Property and role with the
sale. This is pure speculation. There is no c;/idence appellant’s mother represented appéllant’s
interests in these negotiations. There is no evidence appellant’s mother informed the buyers of
appellant’s interest in the Property or of appellant’s role with the sale. There is no evidence
appellant’s mother informed the buyers that appellant would receive a 10-percent TIC interest in

the Property, which appellant would subsequently sell to the buyers.'®

18 Appellant was asked to provxde any available records ewdencmg the negotiations and her mother’s
involvement, but appellant did not provide any.
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Appellant testified that the February 26, 2007 counter-offer is evidence that the buyers
knew she was going to do a section 1031 exchange. But this counter-offer only names Con-
Med; it is silent about appellant holding'a 10-percent partnership interest, about her holding a
10-percent TIC interest in the Property, about her being one of the sellers, or about her wanting
to undertake a section 1031 exchange. However, appellant s_peculates that her mother “was
pushing for this for so long and absolutely would have put herself front and center in that to
make sure that they came to the table and agreed to it.” This is pure speculation. Appellant was
not present at these negotiations. There is no evidence of what appellant’s mother said to the
buyers, if anything. There is no documentary evidence that, during the negotiations, the buyers
even knew of appellant’s intentions.

The documentary evidence and testimony from appellant’s expert witness suggests that
November 28, 2007, was the earliest date the buyers were even made aware of appellant’s
ownership-interest and her intentions. This is the same date when appellant’s signature on Grant
Deed #2 was notarized.

Appellant testified that her mother was her agent under a power of attorney (POA).
Although appcllant could not recall when the POA was executed, she testified that the POA “was
in play” at the time of the negotiations. Appellaﬁt testified that she had a digital copy of the
POA and that it was available on a cloud server, but she did not offer a copy of the POA.
Nevertheless, a POA would not prove (1) that appellant’s mother aétually participated in any of
the negotiations, (2) that her mother served as appellant’s agent during these sale transactions, or
(3) that the buyers were aware that appellant’s mother served as her agent. The documentary
evidence shows that appellant signed everything on her own behalf.! Her mother did not sign
anything on appellant’s behalf. Furthermore, there is no evidence that a copy of the POA was
given to PTLA. There is no evidence appellant’s mother negotiated any of the specific sales
terms. There is no evidence PTLA was aware appellant’s mother had a POA for appellant.

Chase held “that the substance over form doctrine applies and that, in substance, JMI
disposed of the Apartments.” (Chase, supra, 92 T.C. at p. 881.) “The substance over form
* doctrine applies where the form chosen by the parties is a fiction that fails to reflect the
economic realities of the transaction.” (Id. at p. 874, citing Court Holding and Cumberland.) In

comparisor, the form chosen by appellant—the redemption and the deeds signed, notarized, and

190r that appellant signed as trustee of The Sharon Mitchell 1995 Revocable Trust.
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recorded at the last minute, and the escrow seftlement statement listing appellant as a “seller”—
is a fiction that does not reflect the economic realities of the sales transaction. The evidence
demonstrates that the substance-over-form doctrine applies and that, in substance, Con-Med

disposed of 100 percent of the Property.

3. Assignment of Income

Salvatore v. Commissioner'(Zd Cir. 1970) 434 F.2d 600 (Salvatore) provides additional
support for respondent’s determination that Con-Med alone was the seller of the Property. In
Salvatore, on July 24, 1963, Mrs. Salvatore (as seller) and Texaco (as buyer) signed a formal sale
agreemént. One month later, on August 28, 1963, she executed a warranty deed conveyinga
one-half interest to her children. On August 28 and 30, she and her children then conveyed their
respective interests in the station to Texaco. All the deeds were filed at the recorder’s office
simultaneously. The Second Circuit Court of Apf)eals found substantial support for the tax
court’s conclusion that this was an improper assignment of income, explaining that “[t]he
insubstantiality of the children’s ‘ownership,” which they acquired only on the understanding
that they would reconvey, is further underscored by its fleeting duration- no more than a few
hours on August 28 as to several of the children, and approximately two days in the case of a
daughter living in Florida.” (/d. at pp. 601-602'.) Likewise, appellant acquired her 10-percent
TIC interest in the Property for a fleeting duration.

In affirming the tax court, the court of appeals noted that the tax court “found that Mrs.
Salvatore’s children were only ‘conduit(s) through which to pass.title,” citing [Court Holding],
and that Mrs. Salvatore alone, rather than she and her children, was the seller of the gas station.”
(Salvatore, supra, 434 F.2d at p. 601.) The evidence shows that the same is true for appellant.
There is substantial support for the conclusion that Appellant was not a seller but a mere

“conduit through which to pass title” to her 10-percent interest.
4. Bolker

In Bolker, supra, the tax court found that the early involvement by the corporation ended
and that in both substance and form the exchange was made by the individual taxpayer rather

than by the corporation.?? The IRS appealed to the Ninth Circuit; however, the IRS did not

20The tax court stated: “Examining the record in the instant case, we find at most minimal corporate
involvement in the negotiations and the exchange. While it is true that in 1969 Crosby entered into a sales
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contest the tax court’s determination that Mr. Bolker rather than the corporation made the
exchange. Instead, the IRS argued on appeal that Mr, Bolker lacked investment intent and did
not hold the property for investment purposes.

The Ninth Circuit’s decision in Bolker focused on section 1031°s holding requirement,
and it held that “the intent to exchange property for like-kind property satisfies the holding
requirement, because it is not an intent to liquidate the investment or to use it for personal
pursuits.” (Bolker, supra, 760 F.2d at p. 1045.) However, although the intent to exchange
property for like-kind property may satisfy the holding requirement, this intent to exchange
property for like-kind property is not dispositive on the question of whether an exchange actually
occurred. (Bezdjian v. Commissioner, T.C. Memo. 1987-140, affd. (9th Cir. 1988) 845 F.2d
217.) Therefore, before reaching an analysis on the holding requirement, the “first question we
must consider is who made the exchange . . ..” (Bolker, supra, 81 T.C. at p. 794 [citation
omitted].) Moreover, on the holding requirement issue, the majority opinion cites cases that are
distinguishable, such as Magneson v. Commissioner (1983) 81 T.C. 767, affd. (9th Cir. 1985)
753 F.2d 1490 (Magneson),?' and Appeal of Rago Development Corp., et al., 2015-SBE-001,
June 23, 2015 (Rago).?

- agreement with SCS for the precise parcel in question here, that contract was terminated upon SCS’s failure to make
payment of the balance of the purchase price. In no way can it be said that the events of 1972 were a continuation of
the transaction which was agreed upon in 1969. As representatives of both Crosby and SCS testified, both parties
were of the opinion that the prior deal was dead and that the subsequent negotiations started the bargaining process

" anew.” (Bolker, supra, 81 T.C. at p. 800 [citations omitted].)

2! Magneson involved a swap-and-drop rather than a drop-and-swap transaction, and the tax court’s
majority opinion focused on the holding requirement, specifically on whether the taxpayers met the requirement that
the replacement property be held for investment or for productive use in a trade or business. The decision in
Magneson is based on the rights of a general partner under former law, and in discussing the similarities between
TIC interests and partnership interests, the Niath Circuit cited former statutes. (Magneson, supra, 753 F.2d at p.
1495.) Magneson was decided when a tax-free exchange of partnership interests was permissible under section
1031, but section 1031(a)(2)(D) altered that rule. Additionally, Magneson was decided prior to the Uniform
Partnership Act of 1994, and under the new law, a partner no longer has an interest in partnership property. (Corp.
Code, § 16501.) Furthermore, Magneson did not address who is the seller for tax purposes.

21n Rago, several individuals relinquished separate properties and together acquired a replacement
property as fenants-in-common, SBE discussed the step-transaction doctrine. Among other things, Rago did not
address who is the seller for tax purposes, it involved a swap-and-drop, and it focused on the holding requirement of
the replacement property. SBE found that the acquisition of the replacement property had real economic substance
and legal significance because it exposed the taxpayers to real economic risks and entitled the taxpayers to any
appreciation in the value of the property or income from the property. Among the factors given importance: the
replacement property was held for seven (7) months prior to transferring it, and during that time the taxpayers
“controlled the property, obtained the benefit of any increase in the value of the property, and would have suffered
the economic effect if any in the value of the property or damage to the property.” In the present appeal, appellant’s
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Appellant argues that this appeal falls within the ambit of the Ninth Circuit’s decision in
Bolker. This argument is not persuasive because the facts of Bolker were far different than the
facts here. Appellant wants to focus on the Ninth Circuit’s decision in Bolker, while ignoring the
tax court decision. But as the tax court pointed out, in a drop-and-swap transaction, the “first
question we must consider is who made the exchange . . . .” (Bolker, supra, 81 T.C. at p. 794
[citation omitted].) '

Unlike the facts in Bolker, where the individual taxpayer was actively involved in the sale
negotiations, in this appeal there was no involvement from appellant in the negotiations. And
her involvement in the overall sale transactions was minimal: she signed Grant Deed #2 soon
after receiving her 10-percent TIC interest. Although appellant was eventually listed in Grant
Deed #2 and the escrow settlement statement, this was not the result of a new contract. The
contract—the Purchase Agreement and counter-offers—was not terminated. Appellant testified
that the recording of Grant Deed #2 was a continuation and an additional step in the process. It
was all part of the same transaction.?3 The recording of Grant Deed #2 was a consummation of
the sales contract memorialized in the Purchase Agreement and counter-offers, This was the
same deal. .

In Bolker, the tax court pointed out the following:

[Alfter Crost;y’s unsuccessful attempt to sell the property to SCS in 1969, Crosby

ceased negotiating with SCS and all subsequent negotiations with SCS with

respect to the property were conducted by petitioner in his own behalf. In fact,

both the consideration and terms of the exchange that petitioner and SCS

ultimately agreed upon were different from that included in the 1969 contract
between Crosby and SCS, i

(Bolker, supra, 81 T.C. at p. 802.)
The facts in this appeal are distinguishable from Bolker. In this appeal, Con-Med’s
attempt to sell the Property to PTLA was successful. Con-Med did not cease negotiating with

ownership of a 10-percent TIC interest for a fleeting duration is significant; it is indicative of the lack of real
economic substance and legal significance.

3 At oral hearing, appellant was asked to explain whether the sale that closed on November 30, 2007, was a
continuation of the deal between Con-Med and PTLA, or whether it represented a new deal. Appellant testified that
it was all part of the same deal. “It’s like putting one foot in front of the other,” she explained. “You just plod your
way through the purchase of a property. That’s what I would say, is you do this, then you do this, then you sign that,
then you file that.” Appellant testified that the recording of Grant Deed #2 “would have simply been one sort of step
of the thing.” Grant Deed #2 and the close of escrow was a consummation of the deal between Con-Med and PTLA.
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PTLA. There were no negotiations between appellant and the buyers regarding the Property.
Both the consideration and terms of the sale were identical to the $6.4 million sales price and the
terms included in the Purchase Agreement and counter-offers. Unlike the petitioner in Bolker
who was free to negotiate on his own behalf, here, the majority of Con-Med partners feared that
appellant could “spoil” the deal if she were given a TIC interest before there was an enforceable
agreement with PTLA. Under those circumstances, appellant was in no position to negotiate.

In Bolker, the tax court concluded that “the evidence clearly establishes, and we ﬁnd,‘ that
in substance the transaction with SCS was negotiated by petitioner and not by Crosby.” (Bolker,
supra, 81 T.C. at p. 801.) Here, on the other hand, the evidence clearly establishes that in
substance Con-Med—not appellant—negotiated the sales transaction. Therefore, the evidence

leads to but one conclusion: in substance, and for tax purposes, Con-Med sold the entire
Property.
B. Con-Med Did Not Undertake a Section 1031 Exchange

Section 1031 requires an exchange. “Section 1031(a) requires that like-kind property be
both given up and received in the ‘exchange.’” (Chase, supra, 92 T.C. at p. 883.) Accordingly,
because Con-Med sold the Property, section 103,1 (a) requires that Con-Med likewise receive the
replacement property. As in Chase, Con-Med transferred the Propérty but did not receive like-
kind properfy. In other words, Con-Med did not receive the replacement property in Arizona.
Con-Med never held the Arizona property that was received by appéllant as part of the purported
exchange.

In Chase, the tax court concluded as follows:

Having concluded that JMI sold the entire interest in the Apartments, and that JMI

did not act as petitioner's agent with respect to an undivided interest in such _

apartment, we hold that petitioners failed to ‘exchange’ like-kind property within

the meaning of section 1031(a). Accordingly, petitioners are not entitled to the

benefits of that section.
(Chase, supra, 92 T.C. at p. 883.)

In like manner, having concluded that Con-Med sold the entire Property, and that there is
no evidence to prove that either Con-Med or appellant’s mother acted as appellant’s agent with
respectto a 10-perceht TIC interest in the Property, appellant did not exchange like-kind property

within the meaning of section 1031(a).
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. CONCLUSION

A sale by one person (Con-Med) cannot be transformed into a sale by another (appellant).
Con-Med sold 100 percent of the Property, for tax purposes. Based on the substance-over-form
doctrine and the overwhelming evidence, which includes testimony from appellant and her
expert witness, it is clear that appellant did not take part in the sale negotiations. There is no
evidence that appellant’s mother represented her in the negotiations. In addition, there is no
evidence that the buyers even knew about appellant’s 10-percent partnership or TIC interest prior
to November 28, 2007. The evidence proves that only Con-Med was involved with the
negotiations that led to the consummation of the sale, that Con-Med sold the entire Property for
tax purposes, and that, accordingly, appellant could not have consummated a section 1031

exchange.

DocuSigned by:

o

Alberto T. Rosas
Administrative Law Judge

Appeal of Sharon Mitchell : 32



	2016 NY Section Leaders Handbook
	Mitchell Appeal decision - OTA

